ᡃᠰ᠋᠆ᢧᡒ᠆᠕ᡃ᠋ᠬ ᡯ᠆ᡀ Pund bureau de recherche

MOBILE HYPERPLACES

Scientific State-of-the-art

Final report

Study conducted by 6t-bureau de recherche For Institut pour la ville en mouvement / VEDECOM



February 2018





CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	2
FROM PLACE TO HYPERPLACE	5
THE MODERN DEFINITION OF PLACE: A SOCIAL AND SYMBOLIC OBJECT	6
FROM AN ELEMENTARY CONCEPTION OF PLACE	6
TO THE RECOGNITION OF ITS COMPLEXITY	6
"TEMPORARY, LASTING, IMMOBILE OR MOBILE PLACES"	7
PLACES, MOBILITY AND ACTIVITIES IN THE DIGITAL AGE	8
PHYSICAL MOBILITY AND VIRTUAL MOBILITY	
DIGITISATION OF ACTIVITIES AND WEAKENING OF SPATIOTEMPORAL CONSTRAINTS	
THE HYPERPLACE AS A MARKER OF SOCIETAL CHANGES	
A HYPERTEXT AND HYPERPLACE SOCIETY	
GLOBALISED PLACES	14
BENCHMARK DEFINITION OF THE HYPERPLACE	
TOWARDS THE EMERGENCE OF MOBILE HYPERPLACES?	
Hyperconnectivity and hypermobility	
THE AUTONOMOUS AND CONNECTED VEHICLE: A MOBILE PLACE REINVENTED BY THE	DEVELOPMENT OF
NEW USES?	
FOR THE RENEWAL OF MOBILE ACTIVITIES IN THE ERA OF HYPERMOBILITY AND HYPE	ERCONNECTIVITY 21
TRAVELLING ACTIVITIES AND SOCIAL INNOVATIONS	21
TRAVELLING AND ON-DEMAND ACTIVITIES CONDUCTED ON THE MOVE	22
METHODOLOGICAL ORIENTATIONS FOR THE FORWARD STUDY OF MOI	BILE
HYPERPLACES	
BENCHMARK DEFINITION OF THE MOBILE HYPERPLACE	
VEHICLES (RE)DESIGNED TO ACCOMMODATE MULTIPLE ACTIVITIES	
TYPOLOGY OF MOBILE ACTIVITIES USEFUL TO THE FORWARD STUDY OF MOBILE HYPI	ERPLACES
THE REORGANISATION OF PLACES	
REFERENCES	





INTRODUCTION





The arrival of the autonomous, connected, electric (ACE) vehicle and the passions it arouses – as well as the public and private investment it attracts – is an extreme catalyst for all the innovations and changes already underway in the field of mobility.

This action-research project, based on an international and multidisciplinary program of observations and exchanges, seeks to identify and study the different emerging and current practices in on-the-move activities (beyond the simple transportation of people or goods), in order to better understand the radical changes underway in mobile activities and to define the features of the new spaces formed the arrival of these hybrid and multifunctional vehicles. These places in motion or physical places remodeled and augmented by the variety of potential uses – business, leisure, education, work, health, habitat... – could be described as mobile hyperplaces, in line with the invitation formulated by François Ascher to look at the transformation of (physical) places as a result of the rise in digital technology and the societal transformations that accompany it.

The purpose of this report is to establish a scientific state-of-the-art through which to define the main methodological orientations that will form the basis of a prospective study of the disruptions to current practice that may occur with the arrival of the autonomous and connected vehicle, and their impact on the transformation and appropriation of places.

This state-of-the-art begins by identifying the different conceptual and societal changes that have led to the emergence of hyperplaces. It then goes on to discuss the current and future trends that may contribute to the formation of a new kind of place: the mobile hyperplace. Although at this stage the definitional boundaries of this notion are somewhat unstable, our investigation brings us to the view that the observation of mobile activities may be seen as an appropriate entry point to an exploration of the future potential of mobile hyperplaces.





FROM PLACE TO HYPERPLACE





THE MODERN DEFINITION OF PLACE: A SOCIAL AND SYMBOLIC OBJECT

From an elementary conception of place...

The place is the elementary spatial unit of geography. According to Béguin (1979), the place is both identifiable within a system of geographical coordinates, and dependent on relations with other places. More than a simple fixed point in space, the place is the stage on which a number of geographical events are played out.

In the traditional conception, inspired by Aristotelian physics, the place is conceived as a bounded geographical unit, marked by an immediately identifiable integrity: "Just, in fact, as the vessel is transportable place, so place is a non-portable vessel. [...] Hence we conclude that the innermost motionless boundary of what contains is place." (Aristotle, 1966). According to this definition, summed up by Michel Lussault (2017), place "seems to exist independently of what it assembles and contains".

... to the recognition of its complexity

This static and frozen conception of place was "set in motion" in the 1970s, first by the Anglo-Saxon School of humanistic geography. According to Yi-Fu Tuan (1974), "Place, however, has more substance than the word location suggests: it is a unique entity [...]; it has a history and a meaning. Place incarnates the experiences and aspirations of a people. Place is not only a fact to be explained in the broader frame of space, but it is also a reality to be clarified and understood from the perspectives of the people who have given it meaning." According to him, place can be an object of study for humanistic research, considered from a historical, literary and artistic perspective.

This definition relates to Bachelard's phenomenology (2009), according to which the human being is not only spatialized, but also – as Pierre Sansot (2004) – spatializing: it is the human being's perception of place that gives the latter reality.

Echoing this conception of place, Debarbieux (1996) established a distinction between geographical places, which localize a unit bounded in space, and symbolic places, which "also designate a social form, often imaginary, sometimes phantasmagorical." According to him, not every geographical place is therefore necessarily a symbolic place: "Geographical places, which are potentially infinite in number, are combined organically within this geographical space. But selected from this infinity of possibilities, invested with social processes, some of them are charged with meanings". In this view, the symbolic place is the combination of a geographical location, the practices carried out in that location, and the perceptions that individuals have of it.

So place is not simply an integral, bounded, geographical unit, a rational object, but also a subjective object that individuals appropriate, like the "lived space" defined by Frémont (1976): "the transparencies of rationality are clouded by the inertias of habit, the urges of emotion, the conditionings of culture, the fantasies of the unconscious.





Lived space, in all its thickness and complexity, thus appears as a revelation of regional realities. [...] The region, if it exists, is a lived space."

This line of thinking is summed up by Marc Augé (1992, p.69) in his definition of anthropological places, described as "*identitary, relational and historical*". Identitary, because they represent "*a culture localized in time and space*" (Ibid, p.48); relational, because they are "*a concrete and symbolic construction of space*" (Ibid, p.67-68), a construction undertaken by a social group and intelligible to any informed person; historical, because they have a certain stability over time.

Anthropological or symbolic place is therefore an inhabited geographical place, as defined by Heidegger (1958): a space created by human beings or at least controllable, bounded, imbued with meaning.

If places are the products of relations, then it becomes possible, with Marc Augé (1992), to identify "*non-places*". In his view, these are places marked by monofunctionality, and by a lack of social interactions, such as airports or stations, spaces of slippage and transit. Marc Augé also includes the virtual spaces of the new communication technologies in this category of non-places.

"*Non-places* "because they are not a medium for social interactions, these spaces can, nevertheless, become places when they are symbolically "*inhabited*" and appropriated. Today, with the mass development of social networks, the increasingly widespread use of smartphones, and the permanent connection of individuals, the concept of non-places needs to be entirely rethought, since any space can potentially accommodate social interactions (at least remotely) and be a medium for symbolic appropriation. Likewise, with the spread of information and communication technologies, every piece of territorial space, including vehicles, becomes a place where activities can occur (Adoue, 2016).

"Temporary, lasting, immobile or mobile places"

Moreover, if places are the products of social relations and of the symbolic significance attributed to those relations, then they can be nomadic: so a festival that moved every year, but continued to express the same symbolism (same name, same communication aesthetics, same prestige) and to be a medium for similar social interactions, would remain the same and keep the same identity, independently of its geographic location. Place could thus be mobile. In the same way, a place can be ephemeral: a demonstration can turn a space into a "symbolic place", a medium for particular interactions and a carrier of meaning. But once the demonstration is over, the place loses this identity, recovers its day-to-day uses, and may perhaps take on a durable but different identity.

As Ascher sees it, therefore: "*Places can be individual, communitarian or collective. They can be temporary, lasting, immobile or mobile*" (Ascher, 2009: p119).

The definition of place given by Lussault (2017) summarizes these considerations: "For geography, the place has thus become a society's smallest complex spatial unit. Smallest, because it is the basic space constructed for and by social life, just as the house is the basic space of domestic life. Complex, because the complexity of society is fully present in it, in a special combination of human and nonhuman realities that make a local system."





If places are necessarily separated by a distance, mobility – physical or virtual – then provides a way of managing distance (Lévy, 2011), a method for the "*displacement*" *replacement*" of individuals (Ascher, 2009, p.120). Therefore, technological advances limit or even abolish the effect of that distance, in two different ways, one through physical transportation, the other through information and communication technologies.

PLACES, MOBILITY AND ACTIVITIES IN THE DIGITAL AGE

Physical mobility and virtual mobility

In its "broadest" definition, mobility can be understood in terms of the study of "the fluidity of human embeddedness in geographical space, the environment and society" (Orfeuil, 2000, p 10). During the 20th century, this definition developed in relative autonomy within different disciplines (Gallez and Kaufmann, 2009). Sociology considered social mobility, the study of individuals changing either status or social groups over time. Geography and the socio-economics of transportation focused more particularly on spatial mobility, usually reduced to the observation of travel practices. Since the 1990s, more systemic visions, which explore the interactions between the spatial and social dimensions of mobility, have helped to make mobility a fundamental object of social science research (Urry, 2000; Gallez and Kaufmann, 2009; Gallez, 2015). Schematically, these interactions can be understood in two ways: either, first, by the study of spatial mobility as revelatory of social changes or continuities; or, second, by considering the socially constructed aspirations and potentials for mobility of individuals, in order to gain a better understanding of mobility practices.

In his manifesto book "Sociology beyond societies: Mobilities for the twenty-first century", Urry (2000) seeks to produce a broad definition of mobility as a new paradigm in sociology: for him, movement has become central to sociological analysis, and interpretative frameworks such as the notions of structures or societies, characterized by immobility, have become irrelevant. In response, he explores the different forms that mobility can take, in order to show its importance in our western societies. According to him, four main types can be identified:

- Corporeal mobility;
- Mobility of objects;
- Imaginative mobility;
- Virtual mobility.

Corporeal mobility refers to the physical movement of individuals in all its forms, and to the different meanings associated with these movements through space. The mobility of objects is understood in terms of the growing importance of exchanges of manufactured products and their consumption at different points in space: the author is interested here in the interactions between objects and the mobility of individuals, for example travelling with objects, bringing back objects from trips, or having objects





brought to one from elsewhere. Imaginative mobility can be connected with this final dimension: while the author's developments focus on television and radio, imaginative mobility can also be produced by any object that displays images of an elsewhere (books, newspapers, pictures, etc.). Imaginative mobility is thus a way of travelling without moving, and therefore entails the possibility of simultaneous connection to different places.

The same is true of virtual mobility, linked with the use of the Internet and methods of remote communication,¹ taking place in real time and transcending spatial distance. This conception of virtual mobility is associated with the concept of cyberspace, which he defines as "a globally networked, computer-sustained, computer-accessed, and computer-generated, multidimensional set of overlapping 'virtual communities'" (Urry, 2000). Urry thus embeds his definition of virtual mobility in an autonomization of virtual space, brought about by IT and the Internet, a virtual space in which individuals move, meet and connect. In his distinction between virtual space, a vision that has been much disputed.

In fact, space can be understood as both single and hybrid, allowing both physical and virtual interactions (Rallet et al., 2009), by contrast with the definition of cyberspace as separate from physical space. In this perspective, space is a meshwork of connection interfaces that allow virtual interactions (Rallet et al., 2009). These connection points are characterized by access to the telecommunications networks (telephone and Internet, landline or mobile) and possession of an ICT tool (telephone, mobile phone, computer, etc.). The development of the two components of connection contributes to what Rallet et al. describe as the growing territorial network of connection interfaces (Rallet et al., 2009). As a result, what we see today is permanent access to virtual mobility regardless of location, as the growing portability of ICT removes the need for fixed connection points (Rallet et al., 2009).

The notion of a single hybrid space also helps us to understand the role of information and communication technologies in the current mobility changes. Cohen et al. (2002), define ICT as: *"a family of electronic technologies and services used to process, store and disseminate information, facilitating the performance of information-related human activities, provided by, and serving the institutional and business sectors as well as the public-at-large"* (Cohen et al., 2002, p 35).

Information is not only transmissible, but can also be stored and processed. It is communicated electronically and the technology is exclusively digital. Another characteristic can be deduced from this definition: its scope is universal. The private sector, the public sector, and the wider public can all use ICT, so ICT is not confined to the sphere of production alone. Above all, the purpose of ICT is to *"facilitate the performance of human activities"*. It is seen to play an ever-increasing role in our day-to-day lives, in what has been called the *"information age"* (Lyons and Urry, 2005).

So mobility encompasses all sorts of movement beyond the movement of people and objects in physical space, and is coming to be understood as a medium of social ties in increasingly globalized societies. According to Urry (2007), these mobilities, which correspond to different types of connection, are contributing to the development of a

¹ In a more recent work, *Mobilities,* published in 2007, Urry distinguishes between "virtual travel", linked with use of the Internet, from "communicative travel", which consists in the exchange of messages via letters, telegrams, faxes, and landline or mobile phones.





"social life at a distance", marked by the dispersal of individuals and activities. This approach demonstrates the importance of exchange and movement in contemporary Western societies, where mobility has emerged as a dominant value (Orfeuil, 2000; Borja et al, 2014).

Corporeal mobility then becomes a technique of "presentation", i.e. the combined presence of individuals in a given place, whereas information and communication technologies can be understood as tools of "representation", i.e. systems that can "represent them, in other words make them perceptible in their absence through a sign, a text, an image, a sound, and perhaps soon a smell, a tactile or taste sensation" (Ascher, 2009 : p 121).

Indeed, ICT today enables individuals to communicate instantaneously without presentation, thanks to SMS messages, but also mobile applications such as FaceTime, WhatsApp, or Facebook. They make it possible for people to be present remotely, a situation that Christian Licoppe (2004) calls "*connected presence*". In this respect, the technologies, and the virtual mobility they permit, fully belong to the sphere of mobility (Kaufmann, 2005; Urry, 2000; Rallet et al, 2009; Kellerman, 2011).

These two forms of mobility contribute to the fulfilment of what Kaufmann (2005) identifies as a (quasi-)universal desire for reversibility: the movement from one place to another is less and less synonymous with a definitive separation, since the effect of this separation can be entirely or partially eradicated (respectively by corporeal or virtual movement). This "*reversibilization*" now appears characteristic of the evolution of our contemporary societies.

Individuals have benefited greatly from the greater potential for fast physical movement brought by technological progress in the transportation sector (Ollivro, 2000) and from the capacity for ubiquitous virtual movement brought by the development of ICT. These technological changes have liberated individuals from the traditional connection with place (Ascher, 2009). They can draw on different kinds of mobility in different contexts: by juggling modes of travel (car, airplane, walking...) and forms of travel (physical, virtual, telephone, text message...), they are able to evade the spatiotemporal incompatibilities that they experience (Kaufmann, 2005: p 129). Those contexts are therefore marked by the spatiotemporal constraints that govern human activities, by the conditions of access to the different methods of communication (physical or virtual), and by individual capacities to use these communication networks (Kaufmann, 2005).

Digitization of activities and weakening of spatiotemporal constraints

In *Time-Geography* (Hägerstrand, 1970), the analysis of activity schedules is central to the study of the mobility of individuals, starting with the assumption that all activity must take place at a given place and time. Individuals are therefore bound by a system of spatiotemporal constraints that restricts the activities that can be performed (e.g. shop and office opening times).

While this way of looking at activities through the prism of spatiotemporal constraints has often been applied to the analysis of "physical" activities, i.e. those carried out in a given place within immediate reach – by touch, voice, sight – of the individual, this





in no way precludes its application to activities that require virtual mobility. Indeed, already in 1970, Hägerstrand's analysis included remote activities in the form of the fixed line telephone. In this example, making or receiving a phone call requires both parties to move simultaneously to a telephone set, wherever they are otherwise located in space. The place where the activity is carried out, for an individual communicating remotely with another, is no longer necessarily the same as that of the other party, but instead in the location of the technical apparatus used. Since then, Schwanen and Kwan (2008) have demonstrated the relative spatial rigidity entailed in accessing the Internet via desktop computers, mainly used at home or in the workplace. These days, individuals carry mobile phones and smartphones almost everywhere they go, further reducing the spatial constraint on remote communication. As a result, for remote communication and information exchange activities, absolute position in space tends to be less important than position relative to an ICT device connected to the telecommunications networks. For Couclelis, this trend is gradually changing the geography of activities, which are less and less tied to place, and increasingly tied to people (Couclelis, 2004).

ICT enables activities to be carried out in places whose primary function is not to accommodate activities of that kind – e.g. teleworking – with the result that any place with a connection to the network becomes multifunctional. What is happening here is a form of substitution whereby corporeal mobility (travelling to work) is replaced by virtual mobility (not travelling, but interacting remotely to perform the activity).

For many activities, however, there is no sharp division between perfect substitutability and non-substitutability. However, there can be a gradient in the quality of substitution since digitized activities can "*fulfil many needs, but not all the virtualities that are embodied in their data*" (Beaude, 2014). It is precisely in the graduated nature of the substitutability of activities that the complexity of the relations between virtual mobility and corporeal mobility resides.

So with reference to ICT activities can be divided into different segments. Physical activity then becomes partially replaceable by connected digital activity, in a phenomenon known as fragmentation (Couclelis, 2004). This phenomenon has been examined, in particular, in relation to online shopping, where the different stages of a shopping transaction (search for information on products, ordering, payment, delivery, aftersales service, etc.) can be carried out online or in-store (Rallet, 2001; Couclelis, 2004). This partial substitutability can be seen as a form of hybridization (Rallet, 2001), in this case between the physical components and virtual components of the activity. The forms of mobility associated with these hybrid activities then remain relatively autonomous: there is a succession of physical and virtual movements undertaken to perform an activity. Through the concept of fragmentation, Couclelis deduces that increasing freedom from spatiotemporal constraints on the performance of activities will lead to an increase in corporeal mobility - with individuals able to enhance their activity schedule by visiting more places that provide access to new activities, while maintaining their usual activities via ICT, though so far this hypothesis has not been verified (Lenz and Nobis, 2007).

While the digitization of certain human activities may bring freedom in relation to the places and temporalities of those activities, by relaxing certain spatiotemporal constraints, these activities or multi-activities nevertheless always take shape in specific places. This phenomenon reflects an individualization in the relation to places, since the places where activities are carried out are more often a matter of individual choice than van imposition (Ascher, 2009).





It is thus through the dual impetus of connectivity via the "*growing portability*" (Rallet et al, 2009) of ICT and of individualization of the relation to place, that places become transformed.





THE HYPERPLACE AS A MARKER OF SOCIETAL CHANGES

"For a partly new society, partly new urban places. A society where individuals move in all directions, at every hour of the day and night, a hypertext society where people shift rapidly from one social milieu to another, where sequences of activities overlap and intertwine, where social ties are chosen, are formed, are made more freely, but also more freely unmade. This hyper-modern society produces new places: hyperplaces."

François Ascher, Le Mouvement dans les sociétés hypermodernes, 2006.

A hypertext and hyperspatial society

With the development of communication technologies, individuals have become able to move within a multiplicity of real or virtual social spheres: with connected technological objects, they can shift rapidly from one to another, without the need for physical displacement. For François Ascher (2009), these connected individuals form a "hypertext". Like a hyperlink in a computer text, present in and connecting several documents, individual exist in *n* distinct social fields, between they move either physically, or in virtual space. "*In recent years, ICT has exploded into public spaces, giving new concrete forms to the hypertext society. From a single cafe terrace, a consumer – to the irritation of his neighbors – can shift from a face-to-face social interaction to a work-related interaction with a colleague a long way away"* (Ascher, 2005, p.197).

So ICT is not a replacement for transportation and individual journeys from one place to another; in other words, ICT does not eradicate place: "*Rather, it contributes actively to new combinations of presentation and representation, to different blends of places and moments, to the dissolution of certain places and to the production of new places elsewhere*" (Ascher, 2009, p.126). These new types of places are hyperplaces. Vehicles of the hypertext society, hyperplaces are n-dimensional places (Ascher, 2009, p.69) where both representation (telecommunications) and presentation (presence and copresence) can take place. The hyperplace is, in this sense, the place where the individual's hypertextuality is the greatest and the most evident.

While Paul Virilio (1990) accurately describe the impact of ICT on individual relations to immediacy and to distance – since ICT enables individuals to control their environment remotely – his belief that this would lead to a reduction in the need for physical travel has been largely contradicted by the facts. These giant strides in connectivity do not eliminate the relations of individuals to space, do not challenge the intrinsic value of place and therefore the need for mobility. Individuals continue – though in different ways – to be grounded in places. The potential for encounter remains, according to Ascher (2010, p.76), "one of the primary benefits of urban places". For Ascher (ibid), the spread of telecommunications "imparts economic and symbolic value to what cannot (yet?) be telecommunicated: the 'live', the sensations of touch, of smell, of taste, events, parties." We only have to think of the example of the showrooms opened by online brands when they have achieved a certain success and their customers want to try the products and enjoy the tactile experience. For





Ascher (2009, p.158), "the separation and recombination of places and moments automatically produces multiple new places, distinctive to different degrees, changeable, ephemeral."

Within a hypertext society, the demand for real places, which provide the framework for a rich social life, hybridized by the impact of the new technologies, is in this view even more important.

Globalized places

In his theory of globalization, Friedman (2006) proposed the idea that the world is becoming flatter, as globalization creates connections between distant places and shared systems of representation.

For Lussault (2017), while for individuals the scale of the world was previously infraterrestrial, it is now truly global, and it is this scale that is increasingly becoming the reference for human practices and activities, and for social and cultural phenomena. In relation to this new reference that is both distant and virtually accessible to everyone, places constitute "essential affordances of globalization" (Lussault, 2017, p.40), a term that Lussault uses in Gibson's sense: "The affordances of the environment are what it offers the animal, what it provides or furnishes, either for good or ill." (Lussault, 2017, p.133). For Lussault, places can be considered to offer "affordances" for globalization, "because it is increasingly around them and with them that many social processes and individual activities, introduced and permitted by globalization, are arranged, even structured, localized, made livable and appropriable for their inhabitants" (Lussault, 2017, p.40).

This is the idea conveyed by the concept of "glocalization": according to Friedman (2006) or Appiah (2007), local cultures are hybridized by the global, by this appeal to a shared and globalized reference. In parallel, and paradoxically, they argue that the "local" is diversifying in reaction to globalization, as is suggested by the emergence of "neolocalist" movements, which are spreading throughout the world and interacting through social media, all the while preaching a return to proximity and to the local. As a result, the place is becoming multiscale: its reality can be interpreted at different geographical scales, and at the same time be associated with a virtual reality.

In the same way, Silver and Clark (2016) have referred to the emergence of a global scale symbolic culture of consumption, which is creating a "global lifestyle" and establishing demand for similar cultural products in cities all over the world. Such products are the coffee shops with Scandinavian or vintage design that are springing up all over the world's big cities, from New York, to Mexico to Seoul. Or else the "street food markets" which appear on social media in springtime and then in all the capitals, with their food trucks and colorful fairy lights. It can therefore be assumed that places of consumption are also becoming global and multiscale, while remaining in step with a local demand that is increasingly infused with a global culture.

Michel Lussault (2017) pursues François Ascher's ideas about the connected and multiscale hyperplace, to construct a definition of the globalized hyperplace. Taking the example of Times Square, Lussault defines the hyperplace in five points, the first two of which corresponds to Ascher's definition:





- (1) According to Lussault, the hyperplace is characterized by the multiplicity of its functions and uses.
- (2) The hyperplace reveals the hyperspatiality of our urban societies: it combines physical accessibility, copresence and connection. According to Lussault (2017, p.56), "in a hyperplace, the old irreducible opposition between here and elsewhere is absorbed in the tension between the space-time of concrete experience and the "beyond-space-time" of the digital network". This description connects with Ascher's idea of n-dimensional places.
- (3) The hyperplace is also "hyperscale": it functions at all scales simultaneously, it is both local and global, but also constitutes a node in a communicational beyond-space-time (ibid, p.57).
- (4) The hyperplace is experienced as a hyperplace by its visitors: "In the Times Square hyperplace, people experience the intensity of the place and live it personally and collectively, though this collectiveness is not the most powerful component of the enthusiasm felt. For everyone, this experience becomes inseparable from the identity of the place" (ibid, p.58).
- (5) The individuals who gather in the hyperplace share a spatial affinity: in this way, they are temporarily brought together by the hyperplace, without coalescing into a community, a process that Lussault calls "*communization*".

The hyperplace theorized by Lussault is therefore a bounded geographical unit, a place that originally symbolized if not an identity, at least an elective sense of belonging among the individuals who visit it. It is connected to the world by communication networks, and is characterized by intensity and multiplicity of activities. This definition of the hyperplace applies to a finite number of places in the world: places like Times Square or, for example, Shibuya Station. Nonetheless, it represents an exceptional instantiation of the hyperplace, applicable to a few "megaplaces" in the globalized world, whereas the hyperplace as theorized by Ascher refers to the evolution and hybridization of day-to-day spaces. Indeed, it is the city as a whole that plays host to the hybridization of the physical and digital, producing hybrid environments (Sheller, 2016).

The analysis of day-to-day hyperplaces therefore requires a different definition. The concepts of hyperspatiality (a state that combines physical accessibility, possibility of copresence and connection) and hyperscalarity, reflecting the idea of "n-dimensional places" but including the dimension of *glocalization*, nevertheless seem useful to this exercise.





BENCHMARK DEFINITION OF THE HYPERPLACE

At this stage in our study, the definition of the notion of hyperplace that we will apply is set out below:

- The hyperplace is a bounded geographical place which has been hybridized with new technologies, and is therefore connected.
- The hyperplace is both a place of presentation, i.e. where individuals are physically present together, and of representation, i.e. where individuals are in virtual connection with each other. This means that it is not purely a medium for virtual interactions, but attracts individuals for what it can offer them. Allowing a variety of different types of contact, at different scales, it is a multiscale, n-dimensional place.
- The hyperplace is the expression of the hypertext society, so it is not only multiscale, but also multifunctional: indeed, multifunctionality "spreads to all places and all activities, since it is a spatiotemporal expression of the hypertext society" (Ascher, 2005, p.188).
- The hyperplace is the product of the uses that individuals make of it as they exercise their capacity for displacement and replacement (space), for desynchronization and resynchronization (time) (Ascher, 2009, p.119). It thus does not exist in itself, but as a product of the uses made of it. The hyperplace can therefore be ephemeral, even mobile; it is "a potential space, with multiple physical and social dimensions, which provides individuals with possibilities for practical and relational choices" (ibid).

François Ascher sums up his conception of the hyperplace with the example of a cafe terrace: "*it is a single place that affords all sorts of mobilities, of exchanges, of relations and social activities.* [...] *True, it is not exactly a very new place: but it is a very urban place; in a way, it is a modern form of the agora, which over time has been enriched with new elements to accommodate new practices*" (Ascher, 2009, p.119). There is thus nothing exceptional about the hyperplace, simply the reinvention of the everyday in a connected world.

Note that the hyperplace can, like the ordinary place, be temporary. It can be part of a temporary urban planning initiative, a short-term use of an urban brownfield site pending the start of conversion work, intended to minimize the cost of land management (Adisson, 2017). The survey conducted in Île-de-France by the IAU (spatial and urban planning institute) shows the great variety of uses on these temporary sites.² They can host a diversity of functions, like the emblematic Grands Voisins (Paris, 14th arrondissement), variously home to artists' workshops, business and voluntary sector offices, restaurants, events (festivals, markets), campsites, and social housing (Adisson, 2017). With a high social media profile, these places have all the features of a hyperplace. Hyperplace and place have in common the fact that they are not necessarily permanent. Similarly, it is easy to imagine that they may not necessarily be static, but could be mobile.

² - Temporary urbanism: planning differently, Short note 741 by the institut d'aménagement et d'urbanisme - Îlede-France, February 2017.





TOWARDS THE EMERGENCE OF MOBILE HYPERPLACES?



HYPERCONNECTIVITY AND HYPERMOBILITY

The introduction of the concept of the hyperplace shows how the hyperconnectivity of individuals has redefined the way in which they inhabit places. If the ways of inhabiting places change, then places can be entirely rethought. This is the view expressed by Stock (2006), who argues that the symbolic value of a place in a mobile world is different from its value in a sedentary world. First, individuals have become "geographically plural": they are "temporary inhabitants" of several places, and construct their identities around several geographical references. Nonetheless, they have also acquired the capacity to "unground" themselves from local conditions, to inhabit a place at "several scales". They have abandoned a "territorial logic" for a "reticular logic": they pursue a succession of activities by connecting nearby or distant places, whether virtually or physically.

In this view, individuals have moved from a "mono-topian" to a "poly-topian" (Stock, 2006) style of inhabiting: poly-topian living is characterized "by the quest for a match between places and practices. [...] This geographical matching takes the form of the replacement – for a set of given practices – of a single place by several places." According to Stock, instead of making a single place the base for multiple practices, individuals today inhabit multiple places in order to carry out multiple activities, within multiple social spheres. This view thus runs counter to the idea of practices becoming concentrated within hyperplaces, and instead suggests that of hypermobile individuals moving from one locale to another as their needs dictate.

At the end of his book, Lussault argues for a radically different kind of hyperplace: the growing power of individual connectivity and the increasing use of smartphone devices places individuals at the heart of their own hyperspatiality: independently of their presence in a specific place and their ability to move from one place to another, individuals are in control of their own virtual geography, and permanently linked to their chosen spheres. In this account, the individual herself could be seen as an embodied hyperplace (Lussault, 2017, p.297): her existence is defined at both the local and global scale, she is permanently connected, she is a hypertext, able to move instantaneously from one social milieu to another (Ascher, 2005); the individual has become the place in which these social interactions occur.

Nonetheless, this conception perhaps proposes an over-elastic concept of place: place remains the basic geographical unit for the study of social phenomena, it is a shared symbol and reference; such a conception of place cannot be located in the individual. While individuals may be a medium of social interactions, they are also stakeholders in those interactions. By contrast with the hyperplace as defined by Lussault, the individual cannot act as an object of elective spatial affinity, since he or she is an actor and not a third-party channel. Nonetheless, this argument is a reminder that an individual in possession of a smartphone turns the places that he or she visits into a connected space. This being the case, what form could the hyperplace take?

Dominique Boullier (2011) coined the term *habitele*, defined as an ecosystem of "*technical material objects which permit and index relations and connections to the different social worlds to which our practices provide access*". Drawing on the work of the anthropologist Jean-Jacques Gagnepain, he places the *habitele* within the context of a series of envelopes that protect human beings and form interfaces between the place and the outside world: habitat, habitation, *habitele*. The *habitele* is





thus made up of connected and communicating objects, which constitute a new and fundamental interface between humans and their environment, and move with the individual. According to this conception, the hyperplace could therefore be created by the links and connections rendered possible by portable and mobile technological objects.

According to Ascher, however, the hyperplace is not only a place where virtual connections can be made through ICT. It is also a geographical space characterized by the copresence of a multiplicity of individuals and by easy accessibility. It therefore not just be a connected object, it must be an object that is habitable and inhabited (to still be a place), connected (to allow virtual proximity) and accessible (to allow copresence). If a vehicle can be a place in this sense, then the next step is to look at the interdependencies between societal changes and changes in the role and functions of the vehicle.

THE AUTONOMOUS AND CONNECTED VEHICLE: A MOBILE PLACE REINVENTED BY THE DEVELOPMENT OF NEW USES?

"Any time an interaction has temporal and spatial extension, it is because it has been shared with non-humans." Bruno Latour, 1994, "On interobjectivity", Sociologie du travail, pp.587-607, 1994.

As invited by Bruno Latour, we can consider the vehicle as an object that is central to the analysis of mobility. While for the purposes of many mobility-related analyses, the vehicle - bicycle, private car, bus, or subway car - is reduced to its simple utilitarian function as a transportation method, it can nevertheless be approached as a mobile place where, in particular, social interactions take place (Pradel et al., 2013). The study of mobile places inevitably prompts us to focus particularly on the type of vehicle used, in particular its degree of habitability - hence its capacity to "become a place" (from bicycle to fully equipped bus) - and of openness (individual, community, public). Mobility is about more than interactions between individuals: it is also about the interaction between individuals and vehicles, a process highly instructive for the analysis of mobility systems. It casts light on the notion of human-machine hybrids (human/car, human/bike, etc.; Sheller, 2016) and on the adoption of specific innovations, such as the electric car, where the interactions between individual and object differ from those associated with the internal combustion vehicle (Jarrigeon et al, 2015). Observing the processes (formal and informal) whereby vehicles are adapted to accommodate mobile activities would seem to be a particularly useful exercise in the effort to understand the role of mobility in society.

Indeed, these transformations tell us much about the economic and social contexts in which they occur. For example, observation of the *jugaad* in India, cobbled together trucks that may be a mix of motorbike and diesel components, tells us about the resilience of poor populations facing a crucial lack of infrastructures (Birtchnell, 2013). With these vehicles, the formal circuits of vehicle manufacture and repair are





carefully avoided, in preference for informal circuits, and a study of these hacks sheds light on Indian society, its social inequalities and its strategies of innovation.

There is nothing new about the adaptation of vehicles to accommodate mobile activities. It may be done by carmakers (e.g. a mobile home or ambulance) or be undertaken subsequently (change of use), often a highly creative process, in some cases culminating in a unique mix of high-tech and low-tech re-engineering.

Two major changes to vehicles – connectivity and autonomy – can encourage vehicle conversions and a proliferation in the on-board activities that can be pursued on the move, thereby contributing to the emergence of mobile hyperplaces.

Technological developments have turned vehicles into connected mobile objects. As Ascher pointed out back in the year 2000, "*The design of trains, airplanes, but also automobiles, takes into account the fact that they are also places for individual and collective work, for the purchase and consumption of goods and services, for leisure activities*" (Ascher, 2005, p.188). Moreover, the combination of connectivity and mobility on transportation networks, including vehicles, is redefining places of transportation (Adoue, 2016). These are becoming less and less space-times that are impermeable to activities that elsewhere structure the day-to-day life of individuals, and increasingly places that can accommodate a diversity of activities and social interactions. If every human activity – including telecommunication activities – is necessarily undertaken at a given place and time (Hägerstrand, 1970), mobility would seem to be one of those space-times in which activities take place. The possibility of combining different types of virtual mobility with a physical journey is a form of hybridization that suggests that we should think of mobility as a connected process (Adoue, 2016).

With this connectivity, mobility – understood as a space-time – acquires the characteristics of hyperscalarity and hyperspatiality. The vehicle is therefore – potentially – a hyperplace, characterized by the fact of being mobile.

On top of this, the development of mobile communication tools, especially the smartphone, gives the mobile individual the possibility of combining corporeal and virtual mobilities, while on-the-move activity also acquires the property of multitasking inherent to the smartphone (Kenyon and Lyons, 2007). As a result, the smartphone becomes an additional tool for on-the-move activities (Vincent-Geslin et al., 2014), whether recreational, informational or sociable. Here, what we see is a transfer to the dimension of mobility of the ICT user's tendency to "permanent connection" (Beaudouin, 2009; p 26). Communication channels remain permanently open, and virtual mobility is superimposed on or hybridized with corporeal mobility (Adoue, 2016).

While today's vehicles already allow a diversity of uses, which is one of the characteristics of "hyperplaces", automated vehicles promise an even greater diversification of functions and practices. With the autonomous vehicle, which releases its user from driving tasks, the activities undertaken on the move can become more diverse (Cyganski et al., 2015). In addition to this, such vehicles include remote communication and information functions, so that the combination of individual and vehicle forms a hyperplace where meetings can be planned in real time, perhaps alongside additional commercial service functions.

Nonetheless, current research on the issue shows that the main appeal for potential users of autonomous vehicles is not the possibility of better use of time: a major





attraction is the elimination of the need to find a parking space, since the user is dropped off near their destination and the car continues on its way to park itself (Cyganski et al., 2016). Similarly, the elimination of the expense of parking – at a time when streetside parking costs are on the rise – is also a major argument in favor of shared autonomous vehicles (Haboucha et al., 2017). Apart from extensive investigation of the technology of the autonomous vehicle, academic research has essentially approached the possible uses of autonomous vehicles in terms of modal choice, since the connected and autonomous vehicle is often perceived primarily as a new mode of individual transportation (Pawlak et al., 2014).

However, these analyses are usually conducted all other things being equal, and fail to consider new uses of the autonomous and connected vehicle. It is precisely the aim of this research to look more broadly at its future uses, through the study of mobile activities, and to that end to anticipate the emergence of mobile hyperplaces.

TOWARDS A RENEWAL OF MOBILE ACTIVITIES IN THE ERA OF HYPERMOBILITY AND HYPERCONNECTIVITY

Mobile activities have been around for a long time, both in cities (street traders, onboard train services, etc.) and in the countryside (grocery vans, etc.). Three recent changes seem to be contributing to the emergence of new mobile activities. The phenomenon of metropolization, associated in part with the densification of urban flows, creates demand for these mobile sales services among pedestrians and travelers. Moreover, the transformation in consumption patterns, marked by the development of the service economy, is reflected in the emergence of mobile service activities. Finally, the progress in digital technology enables providers and customers of these services to interact remotely, and to adapt their activity schedules flexibly in real time on a principle of improvisation.

By mobile activities, we mean activities of any kind (with the exception of the transportation of people or goods) carried out while on the move or in different territorial areas (i.e. after a journey, whether by prior arrangement or not). They can be nomadic in nature and simply developed by an individual (or a community of individuals), or can be the outcome of a transaction (commercial or otherwise) between a "supplier" and a "demander". These are the two main distinctions that form the basis of the typology we will employ for our subsequent analysis of mobile activities.

Travelling activities and social innovations

Travelling activities are often based on the adaptation of a personal vehicle to accommodate practices, usually fixed and generally of a domestic and/or productive nature, which entail spatial displacement (i.e. outside the home and/or workplace). For example, *tailgating*, a popular practice in the US, involves individuals coming together for a social gathering, usually around some public event (sports, music). The tailgate of the vehicle – sometimes specifically adapted for this purpose – is used to mount a barbecue. In the industrial sphere, the maritime world provides an example





of a long-standing practice of productive activities on the move: the factory ship, defined as a ship that is equipped to process fishing catches at sea. The factory ship functions as a mobile agri-food processing plant (an activity usually carried out in land-based factories).

Outside the productive sphere, the most complete example of the transfer of domestic activities from one territorial space to another is found among (neo)nomads, for whom the entire home becomes mobile (Pedrazzini, 2013). While for nomads, nomadism is an inherited way of life, for neo-nomads it represents a breakaway (Abbas, 2011), and often a blend of old world know-how, modern vehicles and new communication technologies (Pedrazzini, 2013). Travel for these groups is characterized by slowness, detour and improvisation, in contrast with the figure of the hyper-mobile individual (Frétigny, 2015). Nevertheless, these life choices can be interpreted in the light of socio-economic changes, which can influence the relationship to the home and generate non-standard forms of inhabiting (Le Marchand, 2014).

While travelling takes many forms, it adjusts to the available mobility tools, including digital tools, which can be used to reaffirm an ancient way of life like that of the Traveler community (Loiseau, 2015), or to produce new ones, like WWOOFing, a system that connects volunteer workers with organic farms around the world, prompting some of them to adopt this lifestyle completely rather than as a temporary tourist experience.³

The way in which nomads and neo-nomads inhabit mobility can be seen as a laboratory of practices that can lead to innovations of much wider import (Van der Stigghel and Le Marchand, 2013). Nomads and neo-nomads can also be mobile workers, offering their services wherever they move, a practice that contributes to their visibility in the territories they cross.

While nomadic activities essentially reflect individual or community initiatives, they can constitute real social innovations, sufficiently inspiring to be adopted and disseminated by public actors and businesses. It is in these circumstances that they can become mobile activities within a system of interaction between a "supplier" and a "demander" for the distribution of a good or the provision of a service.

Travelling and on-demand activities conducted on the move

Mobile activities, whether nomadic or the outcome of an interaction, can take place in the course of a journey or – following a series of journeys – in different places within a territory.

Activities carried out on the move

One approach to the case of on-the-move activities is through the notion of the exploitation of travel time, whereby mobile activities are seen as a way of making profitable use of time spent in transit (Flamm, 2005; Jain and Lyons, 2008; Vincent-Geslin and Joly, 2012; Adoue, 2016). In this case, the activities are carried out within a moving vehicle. The link between the activity performed on the move and the

³ *Habiter le campement*, press file for the Exhibition at Cité de l'Architecture, 2016.



journey is variable. For example, the journey may be the primary purpose, and the activity simply incidental, pursued in order to fill the travel time. In this case, the individual first decides to travel, then what to do while on the move (Adoue, 2016).

Conversely, the decision on the mobile activity and the journey may be combined, for example when one mode of transportation is preferred to another because it enables a particular activity to be pursued (Vincent-Geslin and Joly, 2012). In this case, there is a hybridization of mobile activities and travel. At the other end of the scale, the hierarchy between travel and activity may be reversed, so that the journey becomes secondary to the activity carried out while on the move.

The material conditions for the performance of activities while on the move – quality of connection, power sockets, seat and tray, to cite the most common – are therefore crucial, since they define the traveler's range of possibilities (Adoue, 2016). It is the correspondence between these material conditions and individual aspirations that governs the degree to which travel time can be "profitably" employed for mobile activities (Lyons and Urry, 2005). If the degree of correspondence is low, it will have no influence on the travel choices, since mobile activities will then be confined to the function of making the journey time pass pleasantly. If it is higher, it may influence these choices, whether in terms of a more comfortable itinerary (avoiding a busy metro line in order to obtain a seat where activities can be carried out) or modal choice (choosing the train over the plane for a business trip, because the slower journey allows time to work on a laptop). When the limits of these material conditions for the exploitation of travel time are pushed back - in particular by substantial adaptations to vehicles - the logic is inverted. Mobile activity no longer serves to make profitable use of the time necessarily spent in travel, but travel serves to make profitable use of the time allocated to the performance of an activity that has become mobile.

For activities conducted on the move, therefore, the vehicle becomes a genuine mobile place, insofar as it can accommodate a diversity of activities and interactions, whether in copresence (between passengers) or remotely (via communication tools). Connectivity and adaptations to vehicles made in order to facilitate activities can therefore ultimately turn this mobile place into a mobile hyperplace.

These activities can be undertaken on the sole initiative of the mobile individual, in which case they resemble nomadism. In this case, individuals are free to "*equip*" their mobility (Fernandez and Marrauld, 2012). However, these on-the-move activities can also be the consequence of a transaction, notably between the provider of the transportation service and the traveler. Conversely, itinerant on-demand activities are necessarily the outcome of an interaction.

Itinerant and on-demand activities

Mobile activities can also be carried out while at rest, after a series of journeys. In this case, they can still be described as mobile, since they occur in different places. Apart from nomadic activities (e.g. nomadic work in different places using a laptop), they also fall within the category of goods distribution and service provision (commercial or otherwise).

It is mobile commercial activities that have tended to attract scholarly attention.





Such activities have been analyzed through the study of *ambulantage*,⁴ i.e. the "distribution of mass consumption products or services and goods, supplied to commuters during their journeys" (Monnet, 2006a). The notion of *ambulantage* developed by Monnet is nevertheless broader than street vending activities, since – alongside transactions conducted using a mobile system (such as an ice-cream van) – it includes transactions carried out in public space by means of a temporary system (such as pavement extensions to streetside stores). Consisting in the encounter of flows of individuals with mobile or temporary sales outlets in public space, *ambulantage* places the movement of the consumer at the heart of its definition.

There are undoubted links between the phenomenon of metropolization and the development of *ambulantage* (Monnet, 2006b). Since metropolization is associated with the densification of flows in urban public space, this brings more potential customers who can encourage the development of these kinds of mobile activities, especially if these users of public space find it advantageous to save time while on the move by buying goods and services without having to make a detour.

Ambulantage can be primarily formal or informal, depending on national contexts. Informal street trading, the tolerance of its presence in public space, and its social role, depend greatly on political and legal conditions, which can range from marginalization to everyday acceptance (Reginensi, 2005). Whether formal or informal, the development of mobile activities, based on increasing flexibility among workers who are themselves mobile, seems to lead inexorably to insecurity of employment (Monnet, 2006c). The type of vehicle – motorized or nonmotorized, to begin with – used by these itinerant traders, and the degree to which their presence in public space is tolerated, tell us something about the different levels of insecurity (Meissonnier, 2006).

The proximity to flows, or more precisely to the places where flows gather, is often crucial for itinerant traders. They usually try to set up in public spaces with high traffic flows, in order to increase their chances of finding customers. Nevertheless, different strategies can be identified, reflecting different degrees of mobility and legitimacy. For example, exploring the organization of street vendors in Istanbul, Meissonnier identifies four ideal-type profiles among street traders, with different consequences for the social ties formed during the transaction (Meissonnier, 2006):

- "Pillar": a trader who always sets up in the same spot in public spaces with heavy traffic flows, and does not move during the working day. While the conduct of his business in public space is not necessarily legal, it primarily acquires legitimacy through permanence. The social bond with his customers is strong and maintained over time.
- "Wait-and-see": a trader who sets up more informally in locations not initially designed as a place of business (transit zone, interchange hub), which can change every day. The social bond formed during the transaction is weak, characterized by anonymity.

⁴ Jérôme Monnet adopts the neologism "*ambulantage*", based on the Mexican Spanish word "ambulantaje", to describe all itinerant activities (commercial or otherwise) and to encompass all the actors involved in the performance of these activities (service providers and end-users), regardless of the types of mobility associated with them (door-to-door, movement around public space, etc.).





- "Deliverer": highly mobile, he develops regular rounds by taking advantage of the poorer accessibility of the spaces he frequents (dead end streets, alleyways) to create commercial opportunities. His actual or potential customers can identify him because of the regularity of his rounds, which lends legitimacy to his activity. The strength of the ties with customers is variable.
- "Weathervane": also highly mobile during the working day, his rounds are much more improvised and follow no clear patterns, except the desire to find a free location, the hope that it will be good enough to spend a certain time there, and the readiness to move if not. Customers are necessarily occasional, and customer attitudes may be tainted with condescension or pity at the fragility of the trade.

Even in the case of the pillar type, who sets up every day at the same spot, the activity may have to move over longer time periods (the week, the seasons) or exceptionally (special events).

An itinerant activity can therefore settle in defined places in ways that are regular and planned, or irregular and improvised. It can also entail numerous moves in the course of the day, or conversely few or none.

Finally it should be noted that the movement of the supplier of mobile goods or services can be customer-defined: in this case, we speak of on-demand mobile activities, in which the individual orders the mobile activity to come to her by means of a remote interaction (phone or Internet). The spatiotemporal presence of on-demand mobile activity in the territory can therefore be marked by a very high degree of mobility and a very high degree of flexibility. On-demand mobile activities are necessarily activities carried out within the framework of an interaction between a supplier and a demander.

It should therefore be specified that the distinction between goods delivery and ondemand mobile sale of goods resides in the timeframe of the purchase decision. In the case of delivery, purchase precedes the movement of the merchandise. Nonetheless, since short delivery times – to the point of "instantaneous" delivery (i.e. in less than two hours; Dablanc, 2017) – are increasingly used as a selling point, there is a tendency towards hybridization between these two activities (at least from the consumer's point of view).

It is therefore legitimate for research into mobile activities to consider what impact digitization will have on these on-demand itinerant activities, i.e. goods distribution and service provision. The aim is to understand how this increasing connectivity is changing or will change their spatial and temporal grounding. Indeed, according to some authors, the rise of e-commerce, by modifying the spatial organization of goods distribution (click-and-drive, warehouses, deliveries, etc.), is contributing to an attenuation in people's relation to space in their shopping practices, i.e. to an "a-spatial" form of commerce (Guillemot, 2016). However, these mobile activities are primarily carried out while at rest and in different kinds of places, so their digitization may lead to different kinds of development in the relation to space.

The activities carried out in different territorial locations transform space – private space, but above all public space – by increasing the potential for interactions in a given place. Today, they already often rely on the adaptation of vehicles to



accommodate activities. Some of these have the power to transform space to such an extent that the vehicles used for them can be considered as mobile places. They can then, through the process of increasing connectivity, become n-dimensional mobile places, i.e. mobile hyperplaces.





METHODOLOGICAL ORIENTATIONS FOR THE FORWARD STUDY OF MOBILE HYPERPLACES





BENCHMARK DEFINITION OF THE MOBILE HYPERPLACE

We have now reached a point in this state-of-the-art where we can put forward an initial definition of the mobile hyperplaces that could arise from the autonomization and enhanced connectivity of vehicles. This definition is likely to evolve throughout the action-research project.

So the mobile hyperplace would possess the features of the hyperplace as previously defined, plus some new characteristics. Like the hyperplace, it is grounded in the everyday world and not confined simply to globalized places. It can also address – and therefore be used by – different populations, from the elite to the poorest, through every possible social combination.

The mobile hyperplace is therefore above all a hyperplace: it is multifunctional, multiscale (an n-dimensional place), a locus of multiple interactions, both real and virtual, face-to-face and remote. It therefore possesses the characteristic of hyperspatiality, a state that combines physical accessibility, the possibility of copresence, and connectivity.

Nevertheless, it exists as a hyperplace, and therefore a place, even when in motion – if only by its digital existence and the remote interactions that this potentiates. Both mobile and habitable, it could be a locus of hypertext interactions even when on the move, by contrast with the ephemeral hyperplace, which is made and unmade in both space and time.

It is a place that would form around a mobile object, i.e. a vehicle that allows the practice of physical activities (through adaptation of the vehicle) and digital activities (through the connectivity of the vehicle or its occupants) at different spatial locations. Finally, the multiple activities that it accommodates can themselves be described as mobile.

A mobile hyperplace is thus simultaneously a mobile place and a hyperplace.

One can identify a close relation between vehicle (autonomous, connected, and possibly adapted) and the hyperplace, and this relation can be analyzed as a "mobile hyperplace". By observing the mobile activities practiced – among other things – by means of a vehicle, we can begin to explore what a mobile hyperplace might look like in the future.

VEHICLES (RE)DESIGNED TO HOUSE MULTIPLE ACTIVITIES

The particularity of a vehicle as a place, when its user is released from the obligation of driving, is that it imposes no particular type of activity on the individual. The traveler (currently in public transport, in the future in autonomous vehicles) is free to decide what to do during the journey. Nevertheless, mobility vehicles and services can be designed to permit specific uses: for example, drivers of taxis and private-hire vehicles these days are encouraged to provide their customers with phone





recharging facilities, and sometimes a Wi-Fi connection, and transportation operators have introduced initiatives to make digital content (e-books, etc.) available to their passengers.

Vehicles are also a working tool for mobile professionals. While such travelling workers currently remain responsible for driving the vehicle, they can nevertheless use it as a workplace when not on the move. They – or their employers – are free to adapt such vehicles to allow professional activities to be conducted inside or around it.

The design of the mobile places – i.e. the vehicles – that provide accommodation for mobile activities is therefore a relevant angle from which to approach the analysis of mobile hyperplaces. It explores how vehicles can be adapted to act as a locus for the performance of activities – digital or physical – other than just movement through space.

TYPOLOGY OF MOBILE ACTIVITIES USEFUL TO THE FORWARD STUDY OF MOBILE HYPERPLACES

We propose to distinguish, initially, between two types of activity: private initiative activities, and activities entailing the distribution of goods or the supply of services.



Typology of mobile activities selected for the exploration of future mobile hyperplaces



Private initiative activities are not, at the time of their performance, the outcome of an interaction (commercial or otherwise) between a supplier and a demander. They arise from personal or community choices. They therefore belong to the nomadic sphere, since private initiative activities **take place in different territorial locations or in transit**, and the person/vehicle pairing carries with it the material conditions needed for the performance of an activity in any location, including the vehicle itself. Among these nomadic activities, we can distinguish between productive activities (mobile workshops and more broadly all productive tasks carried out while on the move) and other nomadic activities (mobile home, tailgating, recreation).

Improved vehicle connectivity can prompt the spread of nomadic practices, since the vehicle can facilitate access to numerous digital activities. Vehicle autonomy too can encourage the spread of nomadic practices insofar as vehicle design will no longer need to take account of the constraints associated with driving (driver's seat facing the road, steering wheel, gear stick, etc.), with the result that carmakers and/or end users will be able to alter the ergonomics of vehicles profoundly in order to accommodate mobile activities. Moreover, with regard to nomadic production, the robotization of productive tasks that can be performed on the move may lead to the development of factories that are mobile and autonomous.

Goods distribution and service supply activities are mobile activities that are based on an interaction between suppliers and demanders. These are activities that can be carried out while on the move, whether through an itinerant mode or on-demand.

Travel services encompass all activities offered to individuals on the move. Buying a coffee or a film on a high-speed train, perfume on the plane... The operation of vehicles (or places of movement, such as airports or stations) includes passenger services that are ancillary to transportation. These services are part of the total transportation service, insofar as their existence does not require prior ordering or reservation.

They are therefore routine services (i.e. services that do not necessarily require prior reservation) that form part of the transportation process, provided in a vehicle or a place of movement. The consumer can be certain or almost certain that the service will be available.

Advances in connectivity with regard to digital services, and in vehicle autonomization with respect to the elimination of the need to drive, lead us to think that these types of mobile activities will become widespread. The different services associated with travel could therefore play a dominant role in future mobility choices and practices.

Itinerant services encompass all activities provided in different territorial locations. The supplier crisscrosses streets and territories in search of customers, either randomly or following a planned itinerary. An adapted vehicle can become a production tool that enables the professional to be entirely mobile and eliminates the need for the fixed locations usually required for these activities. In this way, the activity gains in visibility with potential users. On the user side, the interaction is thus spontaneity of decision-making. It is therefore a service provided in different territorial locations at the initiative of a supplier, without prior reservation on the part of an eventual demander.





These different itinerant services can benefit greatly from connectivity, notably in the establishment of itineraries. Large volumes of individual location data can, for example, contribute to the flexibility and rationalization of itineraries, with the possibility for the service provider of making real-time adjustments in order to travel to places most likely to offer opportunities for meeting with users. Moreover, with autonomous vehicles, such mobile professionals can use the travel time in order to prepare their service offering.

In the case of **on-demand services**, users summon the mobile activity to them. The user therefore has great influence on the spatial distribution of the mobile service. On-demand services are already experiencing strong momentum, which can be observed in particular through the revolution in the logistics sector in response to the spread of e-commerce, food tech, or on-demand mobility services. This is therefore a **service provided in different places at the initiative of the customer through prior reservation**.

Improvements in real-time connectivity may encourage the creation of new mobile activities through the "mobilization" of activities that are currently static. Autonomous vehicles may then trigger a spread of this process by providing on-demand services without the need for human interactions: indeed, the trend towards automation in many commercial sectors (starting with supermarkets) may perhaps, in the future, combine with vehicle autonomization to turn currently fixed places into mobile places.

Some mobile activities can reduce the vehicle to its simple, utilitarian function of carrying people and objects: many small trades can be considered mobile activities as defined here. However, in our exploration of the future mobile hyperplace, we envisage strong integration between the vehicle/activity pairing, which will have a disruptive impact arising from the spread of the autonomous, connected vehicle, since even now, a vehicle that can accommodate a mobile activity can already contribute the redefinition of everyday places.

THE REORGANIZATION OF PLACES

Apart from seeking to understand the potential impact of the spread of the autonomous connected vehicle on the future of mobile activities, this prospective study also seeks to consider what will happen to places as a result of the possible development of mobile places. Here again, the observation of mobile activities currently conducted by means of a vehicle can help us to think about possible future developments.

Here, the aim is to understand the nature of the interactions between individuals, mobile activities, and territories, starting with the hypothesis that through their mobility and the interactions that they generate, these activities contribute to the reorganization of the places they pass through, or even to the production of new places. So what forms of territorial grounding can be found in vehicles adapted for the purpose of performing mobile activities? What are their underlying patterns?

The reorganization of places through the impact of a mobile activity can be approached first of all from the perspective of the user's experience: in what circumstances might the use of these mobile activities be perceived as everyday or





out of the ordinary? What comparisons can be made between activities carried out in fixed locations and mobile activities? What is the advantage of summoning a mobile activity, encountering such an activity on ones route, or during a journey? What motivates the adoption of a nomadic practice?

From the point of view of travelling workers, to what extent and under what conditions is this high level of mobility (sometimes day-to-day) experienced as a form of freedom or of insecurity? What is the motivation for making these activities mobile (capturing demand, enlarging the business catchment area, etc.)? What are the poles of attraction or repulsion of these mobile activities?

Finally, how do the public authorities perceive the revival of mobile activities? Between limiting negative externalities and encouraging mobile activities that are seen as publicly desirable, how do they assess the regulatory issues? What vision of tomorrow's city is then adopted?

By studying the interactions between individuals – mobile users and mobile workers – and the places that accommodate mobile activities, from the perspective of lived experience, and by analyzing how the authorities assess these questions, we can envisage future developments regarding the role of mobility in our urban systems.





REFERENCES





ADISSON F. (2017), « Choisir ses occupants. Quand les grands propriétaires adoptent des collectifs pour la gestion transitoire des friches urbaines », *Métropolitiques*, 6 janvier 2017. URL : <u>https://www.metropolitiques.eu/Choisir-ses-occupants.html</u>

ADOUE, F. (2016), La mobilité connectée au quotidien. Les usages du smartphone dans les transports en commun franciliens. Thèse de doctorat en aménagement de l'espace et urbanisme sous la direction d'Anne Aguiléra, Université Paris-Est, Champs-sur-Marne

APPIAH K. A. (2007), Cosmopolitanism in a World of Strangers, London: Allen Lane

ARISTOTLE, *Physics, Book IV, Chapter 4,* "On Place", translated by R. P. Hardie and R. K. Gaye, Logos Virtual Library

ASCHER, F., (2005) [2000], La société hypermoderne ou Ces événements qui nous dépassent, feignons d'entre être les organisateurs, Edition l'Aube, Collection Essai

ASCHER, F. (2009), L'Âge des Métapoles, Editions de l'Aube, Paris

ASCHER, F. (2010), Les nouveaux principes de l'urbanisme suivi de Lexique de la ville plurielle, Edition l'Aube

ASCHER, F. (undated), « L'évolution des pratiques de mobilité dans les espaces métropolitains », Lecture at the French Institute of Urban Planning <u>http://ville-en-mouvement.pagesperso-</u>

orange.fr/telechargement/chine/F ascher Evolution pratiques mobilit metro.pdf

AUGE M. (1992), Non-lieux. Introduction à une anthropologie de la surmodernité, Paris, Seuil, coll. « La librairie du XXIe siècle », 1992, 149 p., p.69

BACHELARD, G. (2009) [1957], *La poétique de l'espace*, Paris : Presses universitaires de France, 214 p.

BEAUDE B. (2014), « Numérique (Espace et). », EspacesTemps.net [En ligne].

BEGUIN, H (1979), Méthodes d'analyse géographique quantitative, Litec, Paris, 252p

BIRTCHNELL T. (2013), « Que peut nous apprendre l'Inde sur l'innovation ? », Forum Vies Mobiles - Préparer la transition mobilitaire. Consulté le 9 Janvier 2018, URL: http://fr.forumviesmobiles.org/video/2013/03/19/que-peut-nous-apprendre-linde-sur-linnovation-666

BOULLIER D. (2011), "Habitele: wearable digital identifiers", texte du projet de recherche lauréat de l'appel d'offre 2011 du programme Sociétés innovantes de l'Agence nationale de la recherche : <u>http://www.imtfi.uci.edu/files/docs/2012/habitle_project_text-1.pdf</u>

BORJA S., COURTY G., RAMADIER T. (2014), « Trois mobilités en une seule ? », *EspacesTemps.net*, Travaux, mise en ligne le 14.10.2014.

COUCLELIS H. (2004), "Pizza over the Internet: e-commerce, the fragmentation of activity and the tyranny of the region", *Entrepreneurship & regional development*, 16, JANUARY, pp 41–54.

CYGANSKI R., FRAEDRICH E., LENZ B. (2015), "Travel-time valuation for automated driving: a use car-driven study", In: *Proceedings of the 94th Annual Meeting of the TRB. 94th Annual Meeting of the Transportation Research Board*, 11.-15. January 2015, Washington, USA.

DABLANC L. (2017), Le boom des livraisons instantanées. TEC Mobilité Intelligente, 2017, pp 20-21.

DEBARBIEUX, B., 1996, Le lieu, fragment et symbole du territoire. Espaces et sociétés, n°82-83, p. 13-36.





FERNANDEZ V., MARRAULD L. (2012), « Usage des téléphones portables et pratiques de la mobilité. L'analyse de « journaux de bord » de salariés mobiles », *Revue française de gestion* 2012/7 (N°226), pp 137-149.

FLAMM M. (2005), "A qualitative perspective on travel time experience", Conference Paper for STRC-2005, 5th Swiss Transport Research Conference, Monte Verità, Ascona, March 9-11 2005.

FREMOND, A. (1976), La région, Espace vécu, Paris, PUF, 223 p.

FRIEDMAN, T. (2006), The world is flat: a brief history of the globalized world in the twentyfirst century, London: Penguin

GALLEZ C. (2015), *La mobilité quotidienne en politique. Des manières de voir et d'agir*, Dossier d'habilitation à diriger des recherches, volume 2, 263 p.

GALLEZ C. et KAUFMANN V. (2009), « Aux racines de la mobilité en sciences sociales : contribution au cadre d'analyse socio-historique de la mobilité urbaine », in Flonneau M., Guigueno V. (dir.), *De l'histoire des transports à l'histoire de la mobilité ?*, Rennes, Presses universitaires de Rennes, pp 41-55.

GUILLEMOT L. (2016), «Commerce et mobilités», BSGLg [En ligne], 66 (2016/1) - Géographie du Commerce, URL : http://popups.ulg.ac.be/0770-7576/index.php?id=4270.

HABOUCHA C., ISHAQ R., SHIFTAN Y. (2017) "User preferences regarding autonomous vehicles," *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies, vol. 78, no. Part C*, pp. 37–49.

HAGERSTRAND T. (1970), "What about people in regional science", *Papers of regional science association*, 24, pp 7-21.

HEIDEGGER, M. (1958), Bâti, habiter et penser. Dans Essais et conférences. Paris : Gallimard.

JARRIGEON A., MASSOT M.-H., PIERRE M. et PRADEL B. (2015), « Les routines du quotidien à l'épreuve de la mobilité électrique », Espace populations sociétés [En ligne], 2015/1-2.

JOSEPH, I. (1997), « Prises, réserves, épreuves », Communication n°65, 1997, p.131-142, cit. p.133

KAUFMANN V. (2005), « Mobilités et réversibilités : vers des sociétés plus fluides ? », *Cahiers internationaux de sociologie*, 2005/1 n° 118, pp 119-135.

KELLERMAN A. (2011), "Mobility or mobilities: Terrestrial, virtual and aerial categories or entities?", *Journal of Transport Geography* 19 (2011) 729–737.

KENYON S., LYONS G. (2007), "Introducing multitasking to the study of travel and ICT: Examining its extent and assessing its potential importance", *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, vol. 41 (2), pp 161-175.

LOISEAU G. (2015), « Capter l'autre. Ethnographie de l'univers connecté des gens du voyage », *Netcom* [En ligne], 29-1/2 | 2015, mis en ligne le 16 décembre 2015, consulté le 30 septembre 2016. URL : <u>http://netcom.revues.org/1885</u>; DOI : 10.4000/netcom.1885

LATOUR B. (1994), « Une sociologie sans objet ? Note théorique sur l'interobjectivité », *Sociologie du travail*, pp.587-607, 1994.

LE MARCHAND A. (2014), "Favelas, travelers, Roms. L'habitat non ordinaire et les mutations économiques", in BERNARDOT M. *et alii.*, 2014, *Habitats non ordinaires et espaces-temps de la mobilité*, Ed. du Croquant, pp 37-52.





LENZ B., NOBIS C. (2007), "The changing allocation of activities in space and time by the use of ICT. Fragmentation as a new concept and empirical results", *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 41 (2), pp 190–204.

LEVY J. (2011), « La mobilité comme bien public », Métropolitiques [En ligne].

LICOPPE C. (2004) "'Connected' presence: the emergence of a new repertoire for managing social relationships in a changing communication technoscape", *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space*, 2004, volume 22, pp 135-156.

LUSSAULT, M. (2017), *Hyperlieux : les nouvelles géographies de la mondialisation*, La couleur des idées.

LYONS G., URRY J. (2005), "Travel time use in the information age", *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, vol. 39 (2-3), pp 257-276.

MEISSONNIER J. (2006), *Marchands de rue à Istanbul : Présence urbaine d'une offre commerciale en perpétuelle recomposition spatiale*. Nouvelle édition [en ligne]. Istanbul : Institut français d'études anatoliennes, 2006 (généré le 09 janvier 2018). Disponible sur Internet : http://books.openedition.org/ifeagd/275>. ISBN : 9782362450334. DOI : 10.4000/books.ifeagd.275.

MONNET J. (2016), « Ambulantage et métropolisation », *Cybergeo : European Journal of Geography* [En ligne], Dossiers, mis en ligne le 21 avril 2007, consulté le 09 janvier 2018. URL : <u>http://journals.openedition.org/cybergeo/5565</u>; DOI : 10.4000/cybergeo.5565

MONNET J. (2016), « L'ambulantage : Représentations du commerce ambulant ou informel et métropolisation », *Cybergeo : European Journal of Geography* [En ligne], Politique, Culture, Représentations, document 355, posted on October 17, 2006, consulted on January 9, 2018. URL : <u>http://journals.openedition.org/cybergeo/2683</u>; DOI : 10.4000/cybergeo.2683

OLLIVRO J. (2000), L'homme à toutes vitesses. De la lenteur homogène à la rapidité différenciée. Rennes : Presses universitaires de Rennes - 2000

ORFEUIL J.-P. (2000), « L'évolution de la mobilité quotidienne. Comprendre les dynamiques, éclairer les controverses », *Synthèse INRETS*, n° 37, 2000.

PAWLAK J., POLAK J. W.J., SIVAKUMAR A. (2014), "Towards a microeconomic framework for modelling the joint choice of activity–travel behaviour and ICT use", *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice, Volume 76*, June 2015, pp 92–112.

PEDRAZZINI Y. (2013), « Néo-nomadisme », Forum Vies Mobiles - Préparer la transition mobilitaire. Consulté le 26 Janvier 2018, URL: <u>http://fr.forumviesmobiles.org/reperes/neo-nomadisme-1755</u>

PRADEL B., CAILLY L., FOURNY M.-C., CHARDONNEL S., DODIER R. et al. (2013), Relations sociales et solidarités collectives dans les déplacements périurbains : vers une identité de mouvement ?. *11th SIEF International Congress : " Circulations ". University of Tartu*, Jun 2013, Tartu, Estonia. <u>(halshs-00965205)</u>

RALLET A., AGUILERA A., GUILLOT C. (2009), « Diffusion des TIC et mobilité : permanence et renouvellement des problématiques de recherche », *Flux*, 78, pp 7-16.

RALLET A. (2001), « Commerce électronique et localisation urbaine des activités commerciales », *Revue économique* 2001/7, Vol. 52, pp 267-288.

REGINENSI C. (2005), Une figure du territoire en mouvement : le vendeur ambulant transfrontalier en Amazonie. Belin. *Lieux et liens de la mobilité : ces autres territoires*, Belin, Chapitre 16. pp.291-310, 2005, Mappemonde. <hal-00641719>

SANSOT, P. (2004), Poésie de la ville, Payot, Paris, 625 p.

SCHWANEN T., KWAN M.-P., (2008), "The Internet, mobile phone and space-time constraints", *Geoforum*, Volume 39, pp 1362-1377.





SHELLER M. (2016), « Société et technologie : l'avenir sera hybride », Forum Vies Mobiles -Préparer la transition mobilitaire. Consulté le 8 Janvier 2018, URL: <u>http://fr.forumviesmobiles.org/video/2016/02/02/societe-et-technologie-lavenir-serahybride-3118</u>

SILVER D. A., CLARK T. N. (2016), *Scenescapes. How Qualities of Place Shape Social Life*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

STOCK, M. (2006), "L'hypothèse de l'habiter poly-topique : pratiquer les lieux géographiques dans les sociétés à individus mobiles.", EspacesTemps.net, Travaux, 26.02.2006 <u>https://www.espacestemps.net/articles/hypothese-habiter-polytopique/</u>

TUAN, Y. (1974), "Space and place: humanistic perspective." Progress in Geography, p.211-252

VAN DER STIGGHEL F. et LE MARCHAND A. (2013), « Nomadisme et néo-nomade », Forum Vies Mobiles - Préparer la transition mobilitaire. Consulté le 8 Janvier 2018, URL: <u>http://fr.forumviesmobiles.org/regards-croises/2013/05/22/nomadisme-et-neo-nomade-764</u>

VINCENT-GESLIN S., RAVALET E., KAUFMANN V. (2014), « L'appropriation des temps et des espaces de la grande mobilité à l'ère du numérique », *Géo-Regards*, n°7, pp 73-88.

VIRILIO, P. (1990), L'inertie polaire, Paris : Ed. Christian Bourgois, 168p.

URRY J. (2007), Mobilities, Cambridge, Polity Press, 336 p.

URRY J. (2000), Sociology Beyond Societies, London, Routledge, 272 p.





CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	2
FROM PLACE TO HYPERPLACE	<u>5</u>
THE MODERN DEFINITION OF PLACE: A SOCIAL AND SYMBOLIC OBJECT	6
FROM AN ELEMENTARY CONCEPTION OF PLACE	6
TO THE RECOGNITION OF ITS COMPLEXITY	6
"TEMPORARY, LASTING, IMMOBILE OR MOBILE PLACES"	7
PLACES, MOBILITY AND ACTIVITIES IN THE DIGITAL AGE	8
PHYSICAL MOBILITY AND VIRTUAL MOBILITY	8
DIGITISATION OF ACTIVITIES AND WEAKENING OF SPATIOTEMPORAL CONSTRAINTS	10
THE HYPERPLACE AS A MARKER OF SOCIETAL CHANGES	
A HYPERTEXT AND HYPERPLACE SOCIETY	13
GLOBALISED PLACES	14
BENCHMARK DEFINITION OF THE HYPERPLACE	16
TOWARDS THE EMERGENCE OF MOBILE HYPERPLACES?	17
HYPERCONNECTIVITY AND HYPERMOBILITY	
THE AUTONOMOUS AND CONNECTED VEHICLE: A MOBILE PLACE REINVENTED BY THE DEVELOPMEN	IT OF
NEW USES?	19
FOR THE RENEWAL OF MOBILE ACTIVITIES IN THE ERA OF HYPERMOBILITY AND HYPERCONNECTIV	ITY 21
TRAVELLING ACTIVITIES AND SOCIAL INNOVATIONS	21
TRAVELLING AND ON-DEMAND ACTIVITIES CONDUCTED ON THE MOVE	22
METHODOLOGICAL ORIENTATIONS FOR THE FORWARD STUDY OF MOBILE	
HYPERPLACES	27
BENCHMARK DEFINITION OF THE MOBILE HYPERPLACE	
VEHICLES (RE)DESIGNED TO ACCOMMODATE MULTIPLE ACTIVITIES	
TYPOLOGY OF MOBILE ACTIVITIES USEFUL TO THE FORWARD STUDY OF MOBILE HYPERPLACES	
THE REORGANISATION OF PLACES	31
REFERENCES	



